IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

| CHRISTOPHER SENA, Appellant, vs. |))) | NO. | 79036 Electronically Filed May 20 2020 12:36 p.m Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court |
|------------------------------------|-------------|-----|--|
| THE STATE OF NEVADA, |) | | |
| Respondent. |))) | | |

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.
309 South Third Street, #226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
(702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
CLARK COUNTY DA
200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
(702) 671-2700

Attorney for Appellant

| <u>Estes v. State</u> , 122 Nev. 1123, 1128 (2006) |
|---|
| <u>Feazell v. State</u> , 111 Nev. 1446, 1448 (1995) |
| <u>Firestone v. State</u> , 120 Nev. 13, 16 (2004) |
| <u>Ford v. State</u> , 127 Nev. 608, 612 (2011) |
| Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 365 (2001) |
| <u>Gaxiola v. State</u> , 119 P.3d 1225, 1234 (2005) |
| Gibbons v. State, 97 Nev. 520, 522-23 (1981) |
| Griffin v. Strong, 983 F.2d 1544, 1547 (10th Cir. 1993) |
| High Desert State Prison v. Sanchez, 454 P.3d 1270, 1273 (Nev. 2019). |
| |
| Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489, 494 (1982). |
| |
| <u>Houtz v. State</u> , 111 Nev. 457, 458 (1995) |
| Hubbard v. State, 110 Nev. 671, 676 (1994)50, 56, 67, 86 |
| <u>In re Oliver</u> , 333 U.S. 257, 272-73 (1948)32 |
| <u>Jackson v. State</u> , 128 Nev. 598, 604 (2012) |
| <u>Jacobson v. U.S.</u> , 503 U.S. 540, 551-52 (1992) |
| <u>Jeremias v. State</u> , 134 Nev. 46, 47 (2018)34 |

| <u>Johnson v. Sheriff</u> , 91 Nev. 161, 163 (1975) |
|---|
| Kleinbart v. U.S., 388 A.2d 878, 883 (D.C. Ct. App. 1978) |
| <u>Lachance v. State</u> , 130 Nev. 263, 273 (2014) |
| <u>LaPierre v. State</u> , 108 Nev. 528, 529 (1992)91 |
| <u>Lawrence v. Texas</u> , 539 U.S. 558 (2003) |
| <u>Lockwood v. State</u> , 588 So.2d 57, 58 (4 th Dist. Ct. App. FL, 1991)99 |
| <u>Mantinorellan v. State</u> , 343 P.3d 590, 593 (Nev. 2015) |
| McCallister v. State, 389 P.3d 1032 (Nev. Sup Ct. 2017)90 |
| <u>McCullough v. State</u> , 99 Nev. 72, 74 (1983) |
| <u>Mclellan v. State</u> , 124 Nev. 263, 269 (2008) |
| <u>Miller v. Burk</u> , 124 Nev. 579, 597 (2008) |
| Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15 (1973) |
| <u>Moore v. State</u> , 117 Nev. 659, 662-63 (2001)91 |
| Muth v. Frank, 412 F.3d 808, 811 n.3 (7th Cir. 2005) |
| <u>New York v. Ferber</u> , 458 U.S. 747, 757 (1982) |
| Nunnery v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 124 Nev. 477, 480 (2008) 69, 91 |
| Oriegel-Candido v. State, 114 Nev. 378, 382 (1998)90 |
| Paris Adult Theatre I v. Slaton, 413 U.S. 49, 67 (1973) |
| Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 883 (2001) |

| People In Interest of G.B. , 433 P.3d 138 (Col.App.2018) |
|---|
| People v. Davis, 880 N.E.2d 1046, 1054 (Ill. App. Ct. 2007) |
| People v. Floyd, 988 N.E.2d 505 (N.Y. 2013) |
| People v. Hollins , 971 N.E.2d 504 (Ill. 2012) |
| People v. Jones , 284 A.D.2d 277 (N.Y.2001) |
| Perelman v. State , 115 Nev. 190, 192 (1999)64, 123 |
| <u>Peterson v. Williams</u> , 85 F.3d 39, 41 (2nd Cir. 1996)36 |
| <u>Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 211-12 (2010).</u> |
| R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul, Minn, 505 U.S. 377, 382 (1992) |
| Rhoden v. Morgan, 863 F. Supp. 612, 619 (M.D. Tenn. 1994) |
| Rimer v. State, 131 Nev. 307, 313 (2015) |
| Rippo v. State, 134 Nev. 411, 421-22 (2018)90 |
| Ruthledge v. U.S., 517 Nev. 292, 297 (1996) |
| Sable Communications of Cal., Inc., v. FCC, 492 U.S. 115, 126 (1989)106 |
| <u>Sanders v. State</u> , 110 Nev. 434, 436 (1994)59, 84, 91 |
| <u>Seres v. Lerner</u> , 120 Nev. 928, 102 P.3d 91 (2004) |
| <u>Sheriff v. Martin</u> , 99 Nev. 336, 339 (1983) |
| <u>Shue v. State</u> , 133 Nev. 798, 807 n.10 (2017) |
| Silvar v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 122 Nev. 289, 292 (2006) 103 |

| <u>Stanley v. Georgia</u> , 394 U.S. 557, 565-566 (1969) |
|--|
| <u>State v. Cantanio</u> , 120 Nev. 1030, 1033 (2004) |
| <u>State v. Castaneda</u> , 126 Nev. 478, 483 (2010) |
| <u>State v. Gates</u> , 182 Ariz. 459 (Ct. App. Div. 1, 1995) |
| <u>State v. Green</u> , 119 Nev. 542, 545 (2003) |
| <u>State v. Kerrigan</u> , 860 N.E.2d 816 (Ohio. 2006) |
| <u>State v. Lucero</u> , 127 Nev. 92, 99 (2011) |
| <u>State v. Mahkuk</u> , 736 N.W.2d 675, 684-85 (Minn.2007)33 |
| <u>State v. Ortiz</u> , 981 P.2d 1127, 1137 (Hawai'i 1999)33 |
| <u>State v. Pickett</u> , 211 S.W.3d 696, 706 (Tenn. 2007) |
| <u>State v. Puckett</u> , 556 U.S. 129, 134 (2009) |
| <u>State v. Quinn</u> , 117 Nev. 709, 712 (2001) |
| <u>State v. Seymour</u> , 57 P.2d 390 (Nev. 1936) |
| <u>Stocks v. Stocks</u> , 64 Nev. 431, 438 (1947) |
| Thomas v. Hardwick, 126 Nev. 142, 157, 231 P.3d 1111, 1121 (2010) 87 |
| <u>U.S. v. Amirault</u> , 173 F.3d 28, 33 (1st Cir. 1999)94 |
| <u>U.S. v. Dost</u> , 636 F.Supp. 828, 832 (S.D. Cal. 1986)96 |
| <u>U.S. v. Gonzalez-Lopez</u> , 548 U.S. 140, 148-49 (2006) |
| U.S. v. Ivester , 316 F.3d 955, 958 (9th Cir. 2003) |

| <u>U.S. v. Laureano-Perez</u> , 737 F.3d 45, 77 (1st Cir. 2015) |
|--|
| <u>U.S. v. Mariano</u> , 729 F.3d 874, 881 (8th Cir. 2013) |
| <u>U.S. v. Olano</u> , 507 U.S. 725 (1993)87 |
| <u>U.S. v. Perez</u> , 116 F.3d 840, 845 (9th Cir. 1997) (en banc) |
| <u>U.S. v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc.</u> , 529 U.S. 803, 813 (2000). 106 |
| <u>U.S. v. Rivera</u> , 682 F.3d 1223, 1229 (9th Cir. 2012) |
| <u>U.S. v. Sherlock</u> , 962 F.2d 1349, 1357 (9th Cir. 1989)32 |
| <u>U.S. v. Silvestri</u> , 409 F.3d 1311, 1327 (11th Cir. 2005) |
| <u>U.S. v. Stevens</u> , 559 U.S. 460, 472 (2010)101, 102, 106, 108-109 |
| <u>U.S. v. Thompson</u> , 713 F.3d 388, 395 (8th Cir.2013)33 |
| <u>U.S. v. Villard</u> , 855 F.2d 117, 125 (3rd Cir. 1989)96, 100 |
| <u>U.S. v. Wallenfang</u> , 568 F.3d 649, 658 (8th Cir. 2009) |
| <u>U.S. v. Williams</u> , 533 U.S. 285, 304 (2008) |
| <u>U.S. v. Yu–Leung</u> , 51 F.3d 1116, 1121–22 (2d Cir.1995) |
| Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 48 (1984)33, 40 |
| <u>Walstrom v. State</u> , 104 Nev. 51 (1988) |
| Washington v. Glucksburg, 521 U.S. 702, 740 n. 7 (1997) |
| <u>Washington v. State</u> , 132 Nev. 655, 664 (2016)91 |
| Weaver v. Mass., 137 S.Ct. 1899, 1909-10 (2017) |

| Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684, 688 (1980) |
|---|
| <u>Williams v. State</u> , 99 Nev. 530, 531 (1983)67 |
| <i>Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr.</i> , 128 Nev. 246, 253 (2012) |
| Woods v. Kuhlmann, 977 F.2d 74, 76-77 (2nd Cir. 1992) |
| |
| Misc. Citations |
| https://dictionary.law.com/Default.aspx?selected=971 , accessed April 8, |
| 202060 |
| A.R.S. § 13-3551(2)(f) |
| Amy Adler, <u>Inverting the First Amendment</u> , 149 U. Pa. L. Rev. 921, 961 |
| (2001)100 |
| Compiled Laws of Nevada 1861 to 1900 (inclusive) p. 928, available at |
| https://play.google.com/store/ , accessed April 15, 2020 |
| Hammer, Brenden J., Tainted Love: What the Seventh Circuit Got Wrong in |
| Muth v. Frank, 56 DePaul L. Rev. 1065, 1072 (2007) |
| Harvard Law Review Association, The Supreme Court 2009 Term, Leading |
| Cases, I. Constitutional Law. D. Freedom of Speech and Expression, 124 |
| Harv. L. Rev. 239, 247 (2010 |

| Harvard Law Review Association, The Supreme Court 2009 Term, Leading |
|---|
| Cases, I. Constitutional Law. D. Freedom of Speech and Expression, 124 |
| Harv. L. Rev. 239, 247 (2010) |
| Hearing on A.B. 405 Before the Assembly Comm. on Judiciary, 68th Leg. |
| (Nev., April 12, 1995) |
| Inbred Obscurity: Improving Incest Laws in the Shadow of the "Sexual |
| <u>Family</u> ," 119 Harv. L. Rev. 2464 (2006) |
| Lawrence Walters, Symposium, Sexually Explicit Speech, How to Fix the |
| Sexting Problem: An Analysis of the Legal and Policy Considerations for |
| Sexting Legislation, 9 First Amend. L. Rev. 98, 113-14 (2010 104 |
| Laws 2003, c.10, § 4, eff. July 22, 2003 |
| N.R.S. Const. Art. 6, § 12 |
| Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8 |
| Nevada Laws 2003, ch. 261, § 28, eff. May 28, 200353 |
| NRAP 17(b)(2)(A)2 |
| NRAP 36(C)(3)90 |
| Rev. James Stormonth, <u>Dictionary of the English Language</u> 733 (1877)115 |
| U.S.C.A. V, XIV |

| Vera Bergelson, Vice is Nice But Incest is Best: The Problem of a Moral |
|--|
| <u>Taboo</u> , 7 Crim. L. & Phil. 43 (2013) |
| |
| Statutes |
| NRS 171.08551, 69 |
| NRS 171.090 |
| NRS 171.095 42-46, 48, 51- 56, 58, 62, 63, 65, 67, 70, 73, 74, 78, 80 |
| NRS 177.0151 |
| NRS 199.30563 |
| NRS 199.49091 |
| NRS 200.200(4) |
| NRS 200.364121 |
| NRS 200.366128 |
| NRS 200.50871, 127 |
| NRS 200.70095 |
| NRS 200.710 |
| NRS 200.730113 |
| NRS 200.3784121 |
| NRS 201 180 117, 118, 120, 122 |

| NRS 201.210 | 128 |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|
| NRS 201.230 | 128 |
| NRS 201.262 | 128 |
| NRS 394.610 | 117 |
| NRS 394.670 | 117 |
| NRS 432B.070 | 127 |
| NRS 432B.10042, 46, 48, 5 | 0, 53, 57, 78, 104, 127 |
| NRS 432B.110 | 127 |
| NRS 432B.140 | 127 |
| NRS 432B.150 | 127 |
| NRS 440.765(5) | 117 |
| NRS 445A.645 | 117 |
| NRS 447.210(2) | 117 |
| NRS 47.040(2) | 88 |
| NRS 477.250(2) | 117 |
| NRS 512.270 | 117 |
| NRS 641A.440 | 117 |

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

| CHRISTOPHER SENA, |) | NO. | 79036 |
|----------------------|---|-----|-------|
| Appellant, |) | | |
| VS. |) | | |
| THE STATE OF NEVADA, |) | | |
| Respondent. |) | | |

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant CHRISTOPHER SENA ("Sena"), appeals from a final judgment under Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(b) and NRS 177.015. The district court filed the Amended Judgment of Conviction on July 08, 2019. Appellant's Appendix Vol. XI p. 2399-2407 ("AA XI 2399-2407"). Sena timely filed his Notice of Appeal on June 14, 2019. <u>Id.</u> at 2393.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Sena's case is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court because of his 95 convictions after jury trial, seventy-one (71) are category A felonies and thirteen (13) are category B felonies. <u>Id</u>. at 2399-2407. Convictions involving category A or B felonies after

jury trial are not within the original jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals. See NRAP 17(b)(2)(A).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The Courtroom Closure Violated Sena's State and Federal Constitutional Right to a Public Trial.
- II. The State Filed Numerous Charges Outside the Statutes of Limitation.
- III. The State Presented Insufficient Evidence of Guilt.
- IV. Sena's Convictions Violate His Due Process RightAgainst Multiple Convictions for the Same Offense.
- V. Sena's Convictions Violate His Due Process Rights

 Under the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States
 and Nevada Constitutions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 19, 2014, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Sena with: five (5) counts of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment; three (3) counts of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under 14; three (3) counts of Lewdness with a Minor Under 14; three (3) counts Sexual Assault with a Minor Under 16; and four (4) counts of Incest, for a total of 18 counts. AA I 1-6. On September 22, 2014, the

Justice Court arraigned Sena and appointed the Clark County Public Defender to represent Sena. <u>Id.</u> at 78.

On October 22, 2014, the State filed an amended criminal complaint adding an three (3) additional counts of Sexual Assault on a Minor Under 14, one (1) count of Lewdness with a Minor Under 14, and one (1) count Preventing or Dissuading Witness or Victim from Reporting Crime or Commencing Prosecution, for a total of 23 counts. Id. at 7-13. On December 18, 2014, the State filed a second amended criminal complaint, removing one count of Incest, skipping count 15 entirely, and adding: nine (9) counts Possession of Child Pornography; four (4) counts Use of Minor in Production of Pornography; four (4) additional counts of Lewdness with a Minor Under 14; two (2) counts of Promotion of Sexual Performance of Minor Under 14; eleven (11) additional counts of Sexual Assault on a Minor Under 14; four (4) additional counts of Sexual Assault on Minor Under 16; and two (2) counts of Sexually Motivated Coercion, for a total of 57 counts. <u>Id</u>. at 14-33.

The justice court commenced the preliminary hearing on August 27, 2015 and completed the hearing on November 20, 2015. <u>Id</u>. at 93-96. On December 15, 2015, the State filed a Third Amended Criminal

Complaint alleging 124 total counts including: Conspiracy to Commit Sexual Assault; Lewdness with a Minor Under 14; Sexual Assault on a Minor Under 16; Incest; Open and Gross Lewdness; Sexual Assault; Preventing or Dissuading a Witness or Victim from Reporting Crime or Commencing Prosecution; Child Abuse and Neglect via Sexual Exploitation; Possession of Child Pornography; Use of Minor in Production of Pornography; and Use of Minor Under 14 in Production of Pornography. Id. at 34-76. On that same date the magistrate held Sena to answer on all counts in the district court. Id. at 100-111.

The State filed the Information in the district court on December 16, 2015. AA V 1008. On January 20, 2016, Sena pleaded not guilty and waived his Constitutional and statutory right to a speedy trial. AA XI 2409. During the pendency of trial, Sena filed a pretrial petition of writ of habeas corpus, and both the State and defense filed numerous motions and notices. Id. at 2411-41. The State also amended the Information on October 12, 2016 over Sena's objection. AA VI 1251-1301; AA XI 2416.

¹ The district court denied Sena's petition *via* written order on October 31, 2016. AA VI 1251-1301.

Sena's trial began on September 5, 2018. AA XI 2441. Just before trial began the State filed a Second Amended Information containing 120 total counts. AA IX 1959-2001; AA XI 2441. After a discovery dispute arose on the trial's third day, the court released the jurors and rescheduled trial for January 28, 2019. AA XI 2445. On January 23, 2019, the State filed a Third Amended Information. AA X 2115-2157; AA XI 2449.

The new trial began on January 28, 2019. AA XI 2450. Voir dire lasted four days. AA XI 2449-56. After the court read the empaneled jurors the Third Amended Information, the State filed a AAX 2171-2213; AA XI 2457. Fourth Amended Information. According to the 4th Information, counts 1-53 alleged crimes committed against Sena's biological daughter AS. See AA X 2172-87. Counts 54-69 alleged crimes committed against Sena's biological son TS. Id. at 2187-94. Counts 70-86 alleged crimes committed against Sena's biological son BS. Id. at 2194-2202. Counts 87-106 alleged crimes committed against Sena's ex-wife Terrie's son RS. Id. Counts 107-116 alleged crimes committed against at 2202-09. Terrie's niece EC. Id. at 2209-11. Counts 117-119 alleged crimes committed against Terrie's niece TG. Id. at 2211-12. Count 120

alleged one crime committed against Terrie's sister MC. <u>Id</u>. at 2212-13.

Sena's trial concluded on February 19, 2019. AA XI 2471. On February 21, 2019, the jury found Sena guilty of 95 total counts and acquitted him of 25 counts. AA XI 2359-2383. At Sena's sentencing hearing on May 28, 2019, the district court stayed adjudication on certain counts² and imposed various concurrent and consecutive sentences on the remaining counts for a total aggregate sentence of 327 years to life in prison. AA XI 2384-92.

The court filed the Judgment of Conviction on May 31, 2019.

Id. at 2384. Sena filed his Notice of Appeal on June 14, 2019. Id. at 2393. On June 8, 2019, the court filed an Amended Judgment of Conviction adding language concerning lifetime supervision. Id. at 2399, 2407.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sena family background.

On May 22, 1990, Sena and Terrie had a daughter, AS. AA XX 4459. Sena and Terrie married on September 17, 1990. AA XXIII

² The district attorney acknowledged it pleaded some counts alternatively to other counts and thus the convictions merged. <u>See AA XXIX 6731</u>.

5239. Terrie has two sisters relevant to this case, Kimberly Grisham and MC. See AA XX 4464-670. Kimberly had a daughter relevant to this case, TG. AA XXII 4987. MC had a daughter relevant to this case, EC. AA XXI 4907.

Sena and Terrie separated in 1993 but reunited in 1994. AA XXIII 5241. Sometime in 1994, Sena and Terrie moved to Denver, Colorado. <u>Id</u>. While in Denver, Sena and Terrie had a son, TS. <u>Id</u>. at 5242. TS was born on December 2, 1994. In 1995 Terrie and Sena returned to Las Vegas. <u>Id</u>.

Sena and Terrie separated after returning to Las Vegas but reunited in 1996. <u>Id</u>. at 5265. In August 1997 Sena and Terrie divorced. <u>Id</u>. at 5266, 5269. Pursuant to the divorce decree, the court awarded Sena primary physical custody of AS and TS. <u>Id</u>. at 5267. After the divorce Terrie became pregnant *via* another individual. <u>Id</u>. at 5274-75. On June 14, 1998 Terrie gave birth to a son, RS. AA XXIV 5514.

Sena met his second wife Deborah sometime during 1997. AA XX 5859. In late 1997 or early 1998, Deborah became pregnant with Sena's son, BS. <u>Id</u>. at 5862. Sena and Deborah married in 1998. <u>Id</u>. at 5865. BS was born on August 13, 1998. AA XXIII 5275. That

same year Terrie moved into Sena's trailer on Yellowstone Ave. in Las Vegas with her son RS. <u>Id</u>. at 5274. Beginning in 1998, the following persons resided in Sena's trailer: Sena; Terrie; Deborah; AS; TS; BS; and RS.

Each of Sena's children, as well as Terrie's son RS, alleged Sena sexually abused them throughout their lives. The State also alleged Sena sexually abused Terrie's sister MC and MC's daughter EC. Additionally, Sena's children, Terrie, and Deborah, all claimed Sena physically and mentally abused them as well. See AA XXIII 5240, 5270, 5337; AA XXV 5877-78. For example, AS claimed several incidents of abuse where Sena allegedly physically battered her.³ See AA XX 4500, 4506-07. BS claimed that Sena was generally an abusive and controlling person. AA XXV 5708. RS claimed Sena was both physically and emotionally abusive. AA XXIV 5520. Nevertheless, despite Sena's alleged abuse, Terrie and RS routinely moved in and out of the Yellowstone Ave. between 1999 and 2014 and never reported any abuse to authorities. AA XXIII 5282.

Specific allegations against Sena.

³ AS only actually reported one incident to a school counselor and CPS did not substantiate the allegation. Id. at 4503.

o Terrie's sister MC.4

MC is Terrie's younger sister. AA XXII 5038. MC was born on May 16, 1981. <u>Id</u>. According to Terrie, Sena began expressing a sexual interest in MC around 1993. AA XXIII 5243.

MC claimed Sena first abused her during an incident when she was approximately 14 or 15 years old while visiting Terrie and Sena's apartment on Hopkins Ave. in Las Vegas, Nevada. MC claimed Sena touched her breasts while she touched Sena's penis.⁵ AA XXII 5046-48, 5050. MC did not disclose this incident to anyone. Id. at 5049.

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