IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Dec 21 2020 08:07 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CHRISTOPHER SENA,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 79036

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgement of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM M. WATERS Nevada Bar #009456 Chief Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

1. Counts 2-52.

Appellant was charged with Counts 2-52 for abusing A.S. 15 years. Counts 2-31 constitute CSA pursuant to NRS 432B.100. 10AA2172-80. Counts 46-51 constitute CSA, occurring on or between May 22, 2007 and May 22, 2008. 10AA2184-86. The State agrees that the 2001 version of NRS 171.095 applies to these counts.

Next, Counts 31-44 charged Appellant with additional felony sex crimes involving A.S., occurring on or between May 22, 2006 and August 30, 2014. 10AA2180-83. Appellant alleges that because the State argued that these counts "occurred when AS was '16, 17, 18 and beyond," the actual dates of the offenses would have occurred before A.S.'s 18th birthday and the 2001 tolling provisions of NRS 1714.095(1)(b) apply. AOB61 (citing 28AA6466-67). However, argument is not evidence and A.S. testified that Appellant's abuse continued after the turned 18. 20AA4574-75; 20AA4586. Given the date range alleged and A.S.'s trial testimony, Appellant's claim that all charged crimes occurred before A.S. turned 18 fails. As such, the 2013 amendment to NRS 171.095, could apply to these counts. In determining which version of NRS 171.095(1)(b) applies, this Court should view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution. Walstrom, 104 Nev. at 56.

For all crimes constituting child sex abuse, NRS 171.095(1)(b) applies and the State had to file charges against Appellant by the time A.S. turned 21 *only* if she discovered or reasonably should have discovered those crimes before then. Otherwise, the State had until A.S. was 28 to file charges against Appellant For all crimes that did not constitute CSA, the statute of limitations tolled until discovery if the crimes were committed in secret pursuant to NRS 171.095(1)(a).

Regardless, the question is the same: when were Appellant's crimes discovered, or should have been reasonably discovered? Pursuant to Quinn, Appellant's crimes were not "discovered" if A.S did not report the abuse because of Appellant's threats. 117 Nev. at 715-16.

A.S. could not have reasonably discovered or reported Appellant's crimes until she left his residence because that is when he no longer was coercing or threatening her. As that occurred when A.S. was 24, the State had until A.S. was 28 to file charges against Appellant. Appellant was charged with his crimes when A.S. was 24. Counts 2-53 were filed within the appropriate statute of limitations.

There was overwhelming evidence that Appellant prevented discovery of his crimes through continued threats and intimidation. Appellant first raped A.S. when she was 11 and told A.S. no one would believe her if she told anyone. 20AA4533-34. As the abuse continued, so did Appellant's threats. Appellant told A.S. he would break her legs and paralyze her, and that he would have "45 minutes to do whatever the hell he wants" to her before the police got there. 20AA4615. Appellant told her that the mob put cement shoes on people and threw them in Lake Mead. 20AA4615. Whenever A.S. refused sex, Appellant threatened to break her legs or reminded her about having time before the police arrived to do whatever he wanted. 21AA4799. That Appellant was constantly threatening to inflict significant bodily injury if A.S.

reported Appellant's abuse is overwhelming evidence that Appellant intended for his crimes to be concealed.

Appellant began raping A.S. when she was 11, vulnerable, confused, subject to psychological manipulation. Appellant said this was how he showed his love. 20AA4528-29; 20AA4533. At first, A.S. thought this was normal because it happened so often, and no one explained to her what a "normal" family relationship was. 21AA4809-10. Appellant did not occasionally rape A.S. 20AA4534. As a result of this constant victimization, it is reasonable to conclude that A.S. did what she needed to survive. A.S. reported Appellant's abuse only once when she was nine, and Appellant beat her for it. 20AA4500-02.

Appellant controlled A.S. to the point where she felt as though she could not escape. Appellant created and environment of fear, abuse, and control. Appellant threw wrenches, remote controls, rocks, and shoes at A.S. whenever she did not meet his expectations. 20AA4504-07. When she was 14, Appellant threw her on the ground, put his foot on her throat and said, "I brought you into this world, I can take you out of it." 20AA4500. Appellant verbally abused A.S. and called her useless, pathetic, and "his little slut." 20AA4511. It is illogical to expect a child to report her parent-abuser when there is clear evidence that said parent-abuser uses physical violence to control his children and beats them for reporting his actions.

No matter where A.S. was working, Appellant always knew what she had done that day before she ever got home to talk to him about her day. 20AA4512. Appellant monitored his children by installing cameras in- and outside of the residence so he could watch her. 20AA4513-14; 20AA4518-23. Appellant called A.S. if she was not where she was supposed to be and raped her if she did not answer the phone. 20AA4515-16; 20AA4524. Appellant never taught A.S. how to drive and her paycheck when towards supporting Appellant. 21AA4806. This all established that A.S. reasonably felt like Appellant controlled of her life.

Appellant's control continued because A.S. believed that she needed to force herself to have sex with Appellant so he would not beat her brothers, who were at least eight years younger, because Appellant was "less mean" after. 20AA4537; 20AA4587. It is reasonable to conclude that a sister with 3 young brothers felt a sense of duty to protect her brothers from abuse, particularly when A.S. had been the victim of sexual abuse for so long.

Even after A.S. decided to escape, she remained victim to his fear and threats. To escape, A.S. waited for Appellant to fall asleep, and crawled through the trailer so Appellant would not see them moving. 20AA4602-04. A.S. was so afraid Appellant that she quit her job. 20AA4604-05. This fear was validated when A.S. picked up her last paycheck and Appellant had left a note on the check. 20AA4605-

06. Even at trial, A.S. was so afraid of Appellant that she asked the court Marshall to sit closer to her. 20AA4632.

Moreover, all crimes committed against A.S. were committed in secret. The inherently repugnant nature of Appellant's 15 years' worth of sexual abuse of his biological daughter makes the crimes secret. Walstrom 104 Nev. at 57. When Appellant was her sole abuser, she was alone with Appellant and he locked the doors or looked out windows during the abuse to ensure he was not discovered. 20AA4563-65; 20AA4525; 20AA4531; 20AA4545; 20AA4536. When Appellant was arrested and interviewed, Samples testified that Appellant would not acknowledge that he had sex with A.S. when she was a minor. 26AA6194. These factors indicate that Appellant intended to keep his sexual abuse of A.S. secret.

On the two occasions Appellant included Terrie or Deborah in his plans, which were charged as Counts 52 and Counts 46-51, the crimes were committed in secret because both Terrie and Deborah were acting in furtherance of a conspiracy. As explained *infra* III.A, there was overwhelming evidence that both Terrie and Deborah were participants in a conspiracy to commit sexual assault. A.S. testified that when she was 14, Terrie participated in Appellant's sexual abuse, touched her breasts without being told by Appellant and she did nothing to stop Appellant from anally raping A.S. 20AA4570-71. When Deborah participated in Appellant's abuse, she did nothing to stop Appellant or protect A.S. 20AA4580.

There was overwhelming evidence that Appellant's crimes could not reasonably have been discovered until A.S. left in June of 2014 when she was 24. A.S. was still victim to Appellant's abuse and when she was 21 and could not reasonably have reported Appellant's. Given this pattern and proof of abuse and control, it is illogical to expect A.S. to report her Appellant while she was still subject to that abuse and control. The State then had until A.S. was 28 to file criminal charges against Appellant. The fact that A.S. reported Appellant's crimes a mere three months after she was free from Appellant's control and abuse is indicative that it was Appellant who was coercing A.S. into remaining silent. As the criminal complaint was filed against Appellant December of 2014, Appellant was properly charged with Counts 2-52.

1. Count 53.

Count 53 charged Appellant with Preventing or Dissuading Witness or Victim from Reporting Crime or Commencing Prosecution, on or between May 22, 2001 through June 30, 2014. 10AA2186-87. NRS 171.095(1)(a) applies and the statute of limitations tolled until this crime was discovered, if committed in secret. This Court should reject Appellant's contention that because the State did not charge Appellant with multiple counts this crime as to A.S., there was only one threat made and the effect of that threat ended immediately after the first threat was made in 2001. AOB63-65. That Appellant was charged once with this crime, does not mean

Appellant did not continue threatening A.S. and such a contention is belied by the record.

There was substantial evidence that Appellant's issued numerous threats to A.S. As explained in greater detail *supra* II.A.1., A.S. testified that Appellant threatened her multiple times. 20AA4533-34; 20AA4615; 21AA4799. These threats were issued in secret because they had to do with A.S. keeping Appellant's rapes secret. The inherently repugnant nature of CSA establishes that both the threats and the underlying crime Appellant was coercing A.S. into not reporting were committed in secret. Appellant was charged with Count 53 less than three months after A.S. spoke to the police. Therefore, Appellant was appropriately charged with Count 53.

2. The court did not err in concluding that the secret manner tolling provision applied.

Appellant claims that the court erred in concluding that the secret manner tolling provision applied to Counts 2-53. AOB65-67. Appellant claims the ruling contradicts <u>Houtz</u>, and all charges against A.S. should have been dismissed. <u>Id.</u> Appellant's claim fails.

The court correctly denied Appellant's Motion after appropriately interpreting the statute in effect at the time with case law, policy, and legislative intent. The court accurately balanced the policy goals behind extending the statute of limitations for CSA victims to report their abuser. 29AA6789-90.

The court concluded that Counts 2-53 were timely filed, because A.S.'s preliminary hearing testimony made it clear that A.S. was "still under the tutelage or control of" Appellant until she was 24 and she remained under his control throughout the abuse. 29AA6700-85. The court explained that "if the secret manner that causes it to be secret is continuing to the point where the person that's controlling the other individual to prevent them from revealing, that it tolls the statute." 29AA6801. This conclusion was proper. As explained *supra* II.A.1. it is clear that A.S. could not have reasonably discovered Appellant's crimes by the time she was 21. The court distinguished Houtz:

THE COURT: [...] What circumstances was she under that prevented her from saying anything about it? And I know the law, I mean, I don't think the law works to the point where the law requires you, irrespective of what position you're under, to reveal it. And if you fail and don't reveal it because the evidence shows that -- because your client had control and that, you know, I'll tell you, I wrote that down specifically, maintain control over A.S. I -- that's the whole thing.

Until that control is released, I think that's the whole purpose of what a secret crime is it's kept secret to avoid any further conflict that you may have with the person that's committed the crime against you. And that -- and it's controlled by the person committing the crime against you.

So under those circumstances I believe that the evidence is sufficient to overcome any legal requirement that the Court dismiss those counts.

19AA6792-94.

It is reasonable to believe that if a person was violent once, he would be violent again: "I guess abuse, or punishment, or discipline, or whatever, from an

individual who threatened to use that type of thing again. And you've actually experienced it. Doesn't it give some kind of credence to the fact, okay, he did it once before I know he can do it again?" 29AA6799; 29AA6799. That fear caused A.S. to remain silent until she was free of Appellant's control and abuse. That did not happen until A.S. was 24 and she could not have reasonably discovered and reported Appellant's crimes until then. The court correctly denied Appellant's Motion.

Appellant claims that, at the very least, whether Appellant's control over A.S. prevented his crimes from being "discovered" was a question that should have been submitted to the jury. AOB65-67. A statute of limitations defense is an affirmative defense that must be raised by the defense before they are entitled to a jury instruction that the State must establish that the crimes were committed in a secret manner. Dozier v. State, 124 Nev. 125, 131 (2008). Appellant did not raise a statute of limitations defense. Instead, Appellant argued that everyone was willing participants in his crimes. 28AA6526-32; 28AA6538. Appellant attacked A.S. credibility. 28AA6558-59. Appellant's has waived his ability to make this claim on appeal. Guy, 108 Nev. at 780.

B. Other counts not challenged before the court.

Appellant claims that the State did not timely charge Appellant with 12 other counts. Appellant did not challenge the statute of limitations regarding those counts before the court and claims he should be excused from doing so because the court

denied his Motion. Regardless of Appellant's belief in successfully arguing a motion, Appellant had to make that argument before the court before it could be considered on appeal.

Challenges to criminal statute of limitations are treated as non-jurisdictional, affirmative defense which must be first raised in the trial court or they are waived. Hubbard v. State, 112 Nev, 946, 948 (1996). In Guy, this Court declined to consider a challenge to the lower court's hearsay ruling because trial counsel failed to argue that specific hearsay objection at trial and "the trial court had no opportunity to consider their merit." 108 Nev. at 779–80. This Court should conclude the same here. Therefore, Appellant's claims are waived and reviewable only for plain error. Dermody v. City of Reno, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11 (1997); Guy, 108 Nev. at 780; Davis, 107 Nev. at 606. Regardless, of which standard is applied, Appellant cannot show any error.

1. Count 1.

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